

Author: Please check editing changes carefully and respond to all queries to you in the right margin. Inserted text is in bold blue type; deletions are in red with strike-through marks. Please mark any changes directly on the galley proofs (not in this document). Thank you.

MATERIALS SCIENCE

Impact-resistant nacre-like transparent materialsZ. Yin[†], F. Hannard,[†] ~~and~~ F. Barthelat^{†*}

[†]Department of Mechanical Engineering, McGill University, ~~817 Sherbrooke Street West,~~ Montreal, ~~Quebec, QC~~ H3A 2K6, Canada.

*~~Correspondence to~~ **Corresponding author. Email:** francois.barthelat@mcgill.ca

Glass has outstanding optical properties, hardness, and durability, but its applications are limited by its inherent brittleness and poor impact resistance. Lamination and tempering can improve impact response, but do not suppress brittleness. We propose a bioinspired laminated glass that duplicates the three-dimensional “brick-and-mortar” arrangement of nacre from mollusk shells, with periodic three-dimensional architectures and interlayers made of a transparent thermoplastic elastomer. This material reproduces the “tablet sliding mechanism,” which is key to the toughness of natural nacre, but ~~which~~ has been largely absent in synthetic nacles. Tablet sliding generates non-linear deformations over large volumes and **significantly** improves toughness. This nacre-like glass is also **two to three** ~~2-3~~ times more impact resistant than laminated glass and tempered glass, while maintaining high strength and stiffness.

Commented [JJ1]: Per journal style, “significantly” should only be used in the context of statistical significance. Please ensure that “significantly” is used correctly here and throughout the text.

Glass is a widely used material because of its optical properties, hardness, durability, **and** thermal and chemical stability. However, glass has no large deformation or toughening mechanism at ambient temperature, and as a result, its tensile strength is compromised by the slightest defects or damage (1), and it has poor impact resistance. A strategy to improve strength and impact resistance is tempering, ~~where-in which~~ compressive stresses are created at the surface of the component to hinder crack initiation, increasing strength ~~by~~ **to two to five** ~~2-5~~ **times compared to that of** annealed glass (2). However, fracturing tempered glass results in catastrophic failures that release the elastic energy stored during tempering, destroying the entire component in an “explosive” fashion. Another strategy consists of intercalating glass sheets with softer polymeric layers to form ~~“laminated glass.”~~ In case of fracture, the polymeric interlayer holds the glass fragments together, but the overall impact resistance is not otherwise improved significantly (3). Tempering and laminating can be used simultaneously, but these methods do not truly increase fracture toughness, and glass components remain by far the weakest structural elements in vehicles, buildings, and electronic devices.

Commented [JJ2]: The sentence beginning “A strategy to improve strength...” has been edited for clarity. Please ensure these changes still convey the intended meaning.

Biological materials can inspire new alloys to overcome brittleness. Now a model for bioinspiration, nacre from mollusk shells is a highly regular three-dimensional brick-and-mortar assembly of microscopic mineral tablets bonded by biopolymers. Under tensile forces, millions of tablets can slide on one another over large volumes ($\sim 1 \text{ mm}^3$) (4–6), a mechanism mediated by the shearing of the interfaces (Fig. 1A). The sliding mechanism dissipates large amounts of mechanical energy, which makes nacre deformable and tough despite its very high mineral content (95 volume %) (7–9). Despite three decades of research efforts, fabricating large volumes of microscopic nacre-like “brick walls” remains a major challenge (10–15). Fracture

Commented [JJ3]: Per journal style, “95% vol.” has been rewritten as 95 volume %; please ensure this edit still conveys the intended meaning.

toughness is increased significantly in existing nacre-like materials, but mainly from crack deflection and crack bridging (14, 16) [(mechanisms ~~which~~ ~~that~~ are also used in multilayered ceramics (17, 18))]. Ductility can be achieved in nacre-like nanocomposites, but at the expense of stiffness and strength (11, 19). Some of these nacre-like materials are transparent, but they only come in the form of thin films (20, 21). ~~Importantly,~~ ~~Large-scale tablet sliding,~~ which is the critical mechanism in natural nacre (Fig. 1A), has been largely absent in synthetic nacles because the requirements for this mechanism are stringent: (i) ~~h~~Hard tablets with a high aspect ratio to transfer shear stresses, but not too high to prevent tablet fracture (8, 9),; (ii) ~~s~~Strong adhesion of the interface material to the mineral (22),; (iii) ~~i~~nterfaces ~~that are~~ orders of magnitude more compliant than the tablets to achieve a near-uniform shear stress transfer (23),; (iv) ~~i~~nterface highly deformable in shear to maximize deformability (7),; (v) ~~s~~Strain hardening at the interface to delay strain localization and maximize the spreading of nonlinear deformations (5),; ~~and~~ (vi) ~~s~~Size and arrangement of the tablets as uniform as possible ~~in order~~ to delay strain localization and maximize energy dissipation (24). The ~~“Synthetic nacles”~~ that could fulfill these requirements were fabricated at millimeter scales, allowing high control over material architecture (25–27). These materials achieved extensive tablet sliding but only ~~in within~~ one plane, along one direction, and under simple, uniaxial loading.

We report a three-dimensional synthetic nacre-like material that embodies the requirements for tablet sliding, and ~~which~~ overcomes the inherent brittleness of glass. The contours of the tablets were first engraved on 220- μm -thick borosilicate glass sheets ~~by~~ using a focused pulsed laser beam (28) (Fig. 1B). The engraved lines were sufficiently strong to enable the handling of individual glass sheets without separating the tablets, yet weak enough so that individual tablets were separated in a controlled fashion at later stages in the lamination process (28). Five engraved glass sheets were laminated with ~ 125 - μm -thick polymeric interlayers. During assembly, the glass sheets were carefully aligned so ~~that~~ the tablets formed a three-dimensional staggered arrangement akin to natural nacre (Fig. 1B). We fabricated nacre-like panels based on square tablets and based on hexagonal tablets (Fig. 1C) of different sizes [~~length~~ (L) = 1 mm, 1.5 mm, 2 mm, and 4 mm)]. These dimensions were chosen to create tablets with an aspect ratio in the order of 10, which is close to the mineral tablets in natural nacre. A critical step was to identify synthetic polymers with mechanical attributes similar to the interfaces in nacre (22). Most of the transparent polymers we tested in shear were too brittle (resulting in poor energy absorption) and/or too strong (resulting in unwanted fracture of the glass tablets) (28). Ethylene-vinyl acetate (EVA) was eventually selected as the interface material because of its relatively low strength, very high deformability in shear ($>800\%$), strain hardening, and high energy absorption. EVA is also more resistant to ~~ultraviolet UV~~ light than polyvinyl butyral (~~PVB~~), (29), another transparent polymer ~~which~~ ~~that~~ is used in standard laminated glass. Nacre-like EVA-glass beams ~~were~~ deformed by large-scale sliding of the tablets (Fig. S4), with an estimated work of fracture of 7200 J/m^2 (28) [~~more than three times higher than the work of fracture of synthetic nacles made by freeze casting (13, 14))~~].

Visually, nacre-like panels are transparent materials that generated relatively little blurring, little haze, and no image distortion (Fig. 1D). Light transmittance in the visible light range was about 10% lower than the transmittance of regular laminated glasses (Fig. 1D). Puncture tests on simply supported (20 mm ~~by~~ $\times$ 20 mm ~~by~~ $\times$ 1.6 mm) panels of different designs (Fig. 2A) showed that borosilicate glass and plain laminated glass have a high strength but fail in a brittle fashion (Fig. 2B), with multiple catastrophic cracks emanating from the loading point to the edge of the panel (Fig. 2C). The strength of these materials showed large variability because

Commented [JJ4]: The sentence beginning “Large-scale tablet sliding...” has been edited for clarity. Please ensure these changes still convey the intended meaning.

Commented [JJ5]: L has been defined as “length.” Please confirm or correct this definition.

Commented [JJ6]: “Nacre-like EVA-glass beams deformed...” was changed to “Nacre-like EVA-glass beams were deformed...”; please confirm or correct this edit.

it is governed by weakest-link (Weibull) statistics (30). In the laminated glass panels, the fragments were held by the EVA interlayers, which produced a small but non-negligible residual puncture force. This mechanism, typical of traditional laminated windows and windshields, only involves a small volume fraction of the EVA interlayer, and therefore the deformation and energy-absorbing capabilities of the interfaces were largely underused. ~~In~~ By contrast, the nacre-like panels produced a more ductile response with large deformations and high energy to puncture (area under the force-displacement curve). The mechanical response of the nacre-like glass was more repeatable than in plain and laminated glasses because it is governed by tablet sliding, a well-controlled deterministic mechanism. Damage was overall much less visible compared ~~to~~ with regular laminated glass, but a large homogenous and plastic deformation developed around the puncture site (Fig. 2C). Because of their segmented architecture, the stiffness and the strength of the initial all-engraved designs [5A] were about half of the stiffness and strength of laminated glass (Fig. 2D). An improved design with a plain glass sheet used as front layer (~~designs~~ [1P4A]: Fig. 2B) increased the initial strength and stiffness to levels only 10 to 15% below plain laminated glass (Fig. 2D). ~~(Similarly,~~ the strength and stiffness of natural nacre are lower than that of the individual aragonite tablets (22), and the nacreous layer is covered by a harder and stiffer layer of prismatic calcite (31).). ~~The~~ homogenous front glass layer also provides high surface hardness, durability, dimensional stability, and waterproofness. In terms of energy to puncture, plain borosilicate glass performed the worst (Fig. 2E). Laminated glass had an improved ~~(sixfold)~~ energy to puncture, but the nacre-like designs were the toughest, “amplifying” the energy to puncture by another factor of 2.5 to 4 ~~factor~~ compared ~~to~~ with laminated glass. Short tablets ($L = 1$ mm) ensured tablet sliding without tablet failure. ~~By~~ ~~On the other hand~~ contrast, longer tablets ($L = 2$ mm and $L = 4$ mm) led to higher stiffness, but excessive fracture of individual tablets limited strength and energy absorption. The best nacre-like panels design in terms of high energy to puncture and high strength was the [1P4A] layer configuration with $L = 1.5$ -mm hexagonal tablets (Fig. 2E).

Micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) of the punctured panels (28) provided a comprehensive picture of the micromechanics of deformation in laminated glass and in the nacre-like panels (Fig. 3). We were particularly interested in quantifying the amount and type of shear deformation (“sliding”) at the interfaces between the glass layers, ~~since~~ because it is the main mechanism for energy dissipation (28). The sliding distribution ~~in~~ within the lowermost interlayer in the panel (Fig. 3B) shows relatively small interfacial sliding distances in the plain laminated glass, except near large cracks. ~~In~~ By contrast, the sliding distances in the nacre-like panels were much larger and more homogeneously distributed. ~~Based on~~ On the basis of the sliding distance distributions, we computed the square of the sliding distance integrated over the entire interface, a quantity ~~which~~ that scales with energy absorption. The integrated values for the nacre-like panel ~~was~~ were about 2.4 times greater than ~~for those of~~ the plain laminated glass, in agreement with the puncture tests ~~where~~ in which the energy to puncture in the nacre-like panels was 2 to 3 times larger than ~~for that of~~ the plain laminated glass. The shear deformation of the interfaces is therefore the main source of toughness in the nacre-like panels. We also computed a “sliding mechanism index” (SMI) (28), a normalized version of the local divergent of the sliding displacements vector field (Fig. 3D). In plain laminated glass, sliding was mostly uniform ($\text{SMI} \sim 0$), except in localized regions across the cracks, where $\text{SMI} \sim 0.5$ (uniaxial separation of fragments). ~~In~~ By contrast, the deformation in the nacre-like panels was dominated by unidirectional and biaxial sliding ($0.5 < \text{SMI} < 1$), providing quantitative evidence that these panels properly duplicated the “nacre-like” sliding mechanism over large volumes (Fig. 3C).

Commented [JJ7]: “6×” has been changed to “sixfold”; please ensure this change still conveys the intended meaning.

We finally tested larger panels (50 mm by 50 mm by 3 mm) for impact resistance (28). Poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) (Plexiglas) was the lightest of the materials tested, but it also had the lowest impact resistance (energy to puncture) (Fig. 4B). This transparent polymer is brittle at high loading rates, and the panel fractured into 4 four to 5 five large fragments (Fig. 4C). Pure borosilicate glass is about twice as dense as PMMA, with a slightly higher impact resistance but also a brittle fracture. The two types of tempered glasses we tested had an improved impact resistance; failure was catastrophic and “explosive”, with multiple small fragments. Laminated glass performed better than the tempered glasses in terms of impact resistance, because of the large number of layers used ($N = 10$) and the high deformability of the EVA interlayers. The damage pattern was, however, the same as in the quasi-static regime, with extensive damage in the form of long radial and circumferential cracks and fragments held together by the EVA interlayer. Finally, nacre-like panels based on hexagonal tablets ($L = 1.5$ mm) and with a [2P8A] configuration (we used two plain layers on the front face of the 10-layer panel to match the composition of the [1P8A] design) had the highest impact resistance, about double that of the tempered glasses. The nacre-like panels also failed by a graceful mode with large inelastic deformations and no shards (Fig. 4C).

Commented [JJ8]: Please ensure PMMA has been defined correctly.

~~In summary,~~ Our transparent glass duplicates the large-scale sliding of individual tablets in three dimensions and over large volumes, even when subjected to a concentrated force. This mechanism is mediated by the shearing of the interlayers, which absorbs large amounts of mechanical energy, providing the material with toughness, superior impact resistance, graceful failure, and damage tolerance. These nacre-like panels also illustrate how an architecture with relatively large size but with high order and periodicity can be preferable to smaller but more disordered microstructures, which is consistent with recent models and other recent bio-inspired materials (24, 32). Finally the laser engraving and lamination fabrication methods are inexpensive, and relatively easy to implement into the large-scale production of impact-resistant nacre-like glass panels for a wide range of applications, including protective structures, windows, photovoltaic systems, building materials, and electronic devices.

References and Notes

1. Z. W. Zhong, Y. B. Tian, T. G. Xie, Investigation of subsurface damage of ground glass edges. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* **87**, 3261–3269 (2016). [doi:10.1007/s00170-016-8733-y](https://doi.org/10.1007/s00170-016-8733-y)
2. H. Carré, L. Daudeville, Load-bearing capacity of tempered structural glass. *J. Eng. Mech.* **125**, 914–921 (1999). [doi:10.1061/\(ASCE\)0733-9399\(1999\)125:8\(914\)](https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9399(1999)125:8(914))
3. H. S. Norville, K. W. Kim, J. L. Swofford, Behavior and strength of laminated glass. *J. Eng. Mech.* **124**, 46–53 (1998). [doi:10.1061/\(ASCE\)0733-9399\(1998\)124:1\(46\)](https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9399(1998)124:1(46))
4. R. Z. Wang, Z. Suo, A. G. Evans, N. Yao, I. A. Aksay, Deformation mechanisms in nacre. *J. Mater. Res.* **16**, 2485–2493 (2001). [doi:10.1557/JMR.2001.0340](https://doi.org/10.1557/JMR.2001.0340)
5. F. Barthelat, H. Tang, P. Zavattieri, C. Li, H. Espinosa, On the mechanics of mother-of-pearl: A key feature in the material hierarchical structure. *J. Mech. Phys. Solids* **55**, 306–337 (2007). [doi:10.1016/j.jmps.2006.07.007](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmps.2006.07.007)
6. A. P. Jackson, J. F. V. Vincent, R. M. Turner, R. M. Alexander, The mechanical design of nacre. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B* **234**, 415–440 (1988). [doi:10.1098/rspb.1988.0056](https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1988.0056)

7. F. Barthelat, R. Rabiei, Toughness amplification in natural composites. *J. Mech. Phys. Solids* **59**, 829–840 (2011). [doi:10.1016/j.jmps.2011.01.001](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmps.2011.01.001)
8. M. R. Begley, N. R. Philips, B. G. Compton, D. V. Wilbrink, R. O. Ritchie, M. Utz, Micromechanical models to guide the development of synthetic ‘brick and mortar’ composites. *J. Mech. Phys. Solids* **60**, 1545–1560 (2012). [doi:10.1016/j.jmps.2012.03.002](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmps.2012.03.002)
9. F. Barthelat, Designing nacre-like materials for simultaneous stiffness, strength and toughness: Optimum materials, composition, microstructure and size. *J. Mech. Phys. Solids* **73**, 22–37 (2014). [doi:10.1016/j.jmps.2014.08.008](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmps.2014.08.008)
10. S. Behr, U. Vainio, M. Müller, A. Schreyer, G. A. Schneider, Large-scale parallel alignment of platelet-shaped particles through gravitational sedimentation. *Sci. Rep.* **5**, 9984 (2015). [doi:10.1038/srep09984](https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09984) [Medline](#)
11. P. Das, J.-M. Malho, K. Rahimi, F. H. Schacher, B. Wang, D. E. Demco, A. Walther, Nacre-mimetics with synthetic nanoclays up to ultrahigh aspect ratios. *Nat. Commun.* **6**, 5967 (2015). [doi:10.1038/ncomms6967](https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6967) [Medline](#)
12. L. J. Bonderer, A. R. Studart, L. J. Gauckler, Bioinspired design and assembly of platelet reinforced polymer films. *Science* **319**, 1069–1073 (2008). [doi:10.1126/science.1148726](https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1148726) [Medline](#)
13. E. Munch, M. E. Launey, D. H. Alsem, E. Saiz, A. P. Tomsia, R. O. Ritchie, Tough, bio-inspired hybrid materials. *Science* **322**, 1516–1520 (2008). [doi:10.1126/science.1164865](https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1164865) [Medline](#)
14. F. Bouville, E. Maire, S. Meille, B. Van de Moortèle, A. J. Stevenson, S. Deville, Strong, tough and stiff bioinspired ceramics from brittle constituents. *Nat. Mater.* **13**, 508–514 (2014). [doi:10.1038/nmat3915](https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat3915) [Medline](#)
15. R. M. Erb, R. Libanori, N. Rothfuchs, A. R. Studart, Composites reinforced in three dimensions by using low magnetic fields. *Science* **335**, 199–204 (2012). [doi:10.1126/science.1210822](https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1210822) [Medline](#)
16. M. Morits, T. Verho, J. Sorvari, V. Liljeström, M. A. Kostianen, A. H. Gröschel, O. Ikkala, Toughness and fracture properties in nacre-mimetic clay/polymer nanocomposites. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **27**, 1605378 (2017). [doi:10.1002/adfm.201605378](https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201605378)
17. W. J. Clegg, K. Kendall, N. M. Alford, T. W. Button, J. D. Birchall, A simple way to make tough ceramics. *Nature* **347**, 455–457 (1990). [doi:10.1038/347455a0](https://doi.org/10.1038/347455a0)
18. K. Livanov, H. Jelitto, B. Bar-On, K. Schulte, G. A. Schneider, D. H. Wagner, Tough alumina/polymer layered composites with high ceramic content. *J. Am. Ceram. Soc.* **98**, 1285–1291 (2015). [doi:10.1111/jace.13413](https://doi.org/10.1111/jace.13413)
19. B. Zhu, N. Jasinski, A. Benitez, M. Noack, D. Park, A. S. Goldmann, C. Barner-Kowollik, A. Walther, Hierarchical nacre mimetics with synergistic mechanical properties by control of molecular interactions in self-healing polymers. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **54**, 8653–8657 (2015). [doi:10.1002/anie.201502323](https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201502323) [Medline](#)
20. T. Ebina, F. Mizukami, Flexible transparent clay films with heat-resistant and high gas-barrier properties. *Adv. Mater.* **19**, 2450–2453 (2007). [doi:10.1002/adma.200700162](https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200700162)

21. Y. Liu, S.-H. Yu, L. Bergström, Transparent and flexible nacre-like hybrid films of aminoclays and carboxylated cellulose nanofibrils. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **28**, 1703277 (2018). [doi:10.1002/adfm.201703277](https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201703277)
22. F. Barthelat, Z. Yin, M. J. Buehler, Structure and mechanics of interfaces in biological materials. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **1**, 16007 (2016). [doi:10.1038/natrevmats.2016.7](https://doi.org/10.1038/natrevmats.2016.7)
23. F. Barthelat, A. K. Dastjerdi, R. Rabiei, An improved failure criterion for biological and engineered staggered composites. *J. R. Soc. Interface* **10**, 20120849 (2012). [doi:10.1098/rsif.2012.0849](https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2012.0849) [Medline](#)
24. N. Abid, M. Mirkhalaf, F. Barthelat, Discrete-element modeling of nacre-like materials: Effects of random microstructures on strain localization and mechanical performance. *J. Mech. Phys. Solids* **112**, 385–402 (2018). [doi:10.1016/j.jmps.2017.11.003](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmps.2017.11.003)
25. H. D. Espinosa, A. L. Juster, F. J. Latourte, O. Y. Loh, D. Gregoire, P. D. Zavattieri, Tablet-level origin of toughening in abalone shells and translation to synthetic composite materials. *Nat. Commun.* **2**, 173 (2011). [doi:10.1038/ncomms1172](https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1172) [Medline](#)
26. S. M. Valashani, F. Barthelat, A laser-engraved glass duplicating the structure, mechanics and performance of natural nacre. *Bioinspir. Biomim.* **10**, 026005 (2015). [doi:10.1088/1748-3190/10/2/026005](https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-3190/10/2/026005) [Medline](#)
27. L. S. Dimas, G. H. Bratzel, I. Eylon, M. J. Buehler, Tough composites inspired by mineralized natural materials: Computation, 3D printing, and testing. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **23**, 4629–4638 (2013). [doi:10.1002/adfm.201300215](https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201300215)
28. Materials and methods are available as supplementary materials.
29. T. Serafinavičius, J.-P. Lebet, C. Louter, T. Lenkimas, A. Kuranovas, Long-term laminated glass four point bending test with PVB, EVA and SG interlayers at different temperatures. *Procedia Eng.* **57**, 996–1004 (2013). [doi:10.1016/j.proeng.2013.04.126](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2013.04.126)
30. B. Lawn, *Fracture of Brittle Solids* (Cambridge University Press, 1993).
31. J. D. Taylor, M. Layman, The mechanical properties of bivalve (Mollusca) shell structures. *Palaeontology* **15**, 73–87 (1972).
32. Z. Yin, A. Dastjerdi, F. Barthelat, Tough and deformable glasses with bioinspired cross-ply architectures. *Acta Biomater.* **75**, 439–450 (2018). [doi:10.1016/j.actbio.2018.05.012](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2018.05.012) [Medline](#)
33. S. M. Barinov, Work-of-fracture determination for brittle materials. *J. Mater. Sci. Lett.* **12**, 674–676 (1993). [doi:10.1007/BF00465589](https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00465589)
34. D. J. Kroon, *Region Growing* (MATLAB Central File Exchange, 2008).
35. M. R. Tant, K. A. Mauritz, G. L. Wilkes, *Ionomers: Synthesis, Structure, Properties and Applications* (Springer, Dordrecht, ed. 1st, 1997).
36. R. Longworth, D. J. Vaughan, Physical structure of ionomers. *Nature* **218**, 85–87 (1968). [doi:10.1038/218085a0](https://doi.org/10.1038/218085a0)
37. I. O. Salyer, A. S. Kenyon, Structure and property relationships in ethylene–vinyl acetate copolymers. *J. Polym. Sci. A Polym. Chem.* **9**, 3083–3103 (1971). [doi:10.1002/pol.1971.150091101](https://doi.org/10.1002/pol.1971.150091101)

38. A. Parker, J. Rottler, Molecular mechanisms of plastic deformation in sphere-Forming thermoplastic elastomers. *Macromolecules* **48**, 8253–8261 (2015).
[doi:10.1021/acs.macromol.5b01339](https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.5b01339)
39. Z. Wang, Y. Shi, Y. Wu, Q. Wang, S. Luo, Shear behaviour of structural silicone adhesively bonded steel-glass orthogonal lap joints. *J. Adhes. Sci. Technol.* **32**, 2693–2708 (2018).
[doi:10.1080/01694243.2018.1501862](https://doi.org/10.1080/01694243.2018.1501862)
40. M. Mooney, Stress-strain curves of rubbers in simple shear. *J. Appl. Phys.* **35**, 23–26 (1964).
[doi:10.1063/1.1713076](https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1713076)

Acknowledgments: We thank R. Botman (Glassopolis) for discussions on current challenges and opportunities in glass technologies, and R. Tahara (Redpath Museum) for assistance with the micro-CT scans. **Funding:** This work was supported by a Strategic Grant (STPGP 479137–15) from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada. Z.Y. was supported by a McGill Engineering Doctoral Award. The micro-CT facility was acquired from a CFI Innovation Grant (33112) awarded to J. Vogel and the Integrated Quantitative Biology Initiative. **Author contributions:** Z.Y. and F.B. designed the nacre-like glass panels, the fabrication protocol, and the experiments. Z.Y. fabricated and tested the materials. F.H. developed the analysis protocol and data processing codes for the micro-CT scans. Z.Y., F.H., and F.B. analyzed the experimental results, prepared the figures, and wrote the manuscript. F.B. is an inventor (with A. K. Dastjerdi and S. M. Mirkhalaf) on U.S. patent applications (US2017197873-A1 and US2015274587-A1) submitted by McGill University that cover the fabrication methods used in this article. **Competing interests:** None declared. **Data and materials availability:** All data needed to evaluate the conclusions of the paper are present in the paper or the [Supplementary Materials](#).

Supplementary Materials

[science.sciencemag.org/content/\[vol\]/\[issue\]/\[page\]/suppl/DC1](https://science.sciencemag.org/content/[vol]/[issue]/[page]/suppl/DC1)

Materials and Methods

Supplementary Text

[Figures](#) [Figs. S1 to -S6](#)

[Movies](#) [S1 to -S3](#)

[References](#) (33–40)

4 February 2019; accepted 17 May 2019

Fig. 1. Design and fabrication of nacre-like glass panels. (A) Natural nacre is made of 95 volume % of mineral tablets bonded by a softer organic mortar. Nacre can deform, stop cracks, and absorb impact energy by the sliding of the micro-tablets on one another and over large volumes. (B) Fabrication protocol for nacre-like glass panels ([Scale bar: 100 \$\mu\$ m](#)). (C) Details of tablet geometry and overlap structure ([Scale bar: 500 \$\mu\$ m](#)). (D) Light transmittance of nacre-like

glass panels compared with plain laminated panels. (Inset): Optical clarity of a typical engraved panels. (s) Scale bar: 10 mm).

Fig. 2. Puncture of small nacre-like glass panels. (A) Experimental setup: A simply supported glass panel is punctured with a loading nose at a quasi-static rate. (B) Puncture force–displacement curves for pure borosilicate glass and pure EVA panels, plain laminated panels, and nacre-like panels with [5A] and [1P4A] layer configurations. (C) Plain laminated and nacre-like panels before and during puncture (at a displacement = 3 mm). The lighting and background were chosen to highlight the engraving patterns. Scale bar: 5 mm. (D and E) Property maps showing (D) Maximum force (strength) versus stiffness and (E) Energy to puncture versus maximum force for different materials and designs.

Fig. 3. Micro-CT scans and analysis for plain laminated and nacre-like panels. (A) 3D Three-dimensional microtomography perspectives of punctured samples (for plain laminated glass, arrays of microdots were engraved on the surface of the layers to track their relative sliding). (B) Maps of the sliding distance in the lowermost interlayer, showing larger and more distributed sliding in the nacre-like designs. (C) Maps of the sliding mechanism index (SMI) in within the lowermost interlayer in the panel, also showing sliding vectors. and (D) Schematic showing three sliding mechanisms corresponding to three values of the sliding mechanism index (SMI). Tablet sliding was generally more bi-directional and isotropic in panels based on hexagonal tablets.

Fig. 4. Impact tests on large nacre-like panels and other transparent materials. (A) Experimental setup: A simply supported (50 mm by 50 mm by 3 mm) panel is impacted at a velocity of 2.34 m/s. (B) Energy to puncture versus mass density property map for the six designs and materials tested in impact (all had the same overall dimensions). (C) Corresponding snapshots from high-speed photography. Scale bar: 10 mm.

Commented [JJ9]: “3D” was spelled out in the Fig. 3 legend because it was spelled out in the rest of the text. Please confirm or correct this edit.